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PREFAOQE.

It was the express wish of Admiral Farragut that his biog-
raphy should be written by his only son. What would other-
wise have been a laborious though grateful task, has been very
much lightened by the fact that so large a portion of the ma-
terial is from his own hand, clothed in his own characteristic
language.

If any undue partiality for his fame and character should be
apparent in my contributions to the volume, it must be attribu-
ted to the nearness of our relationship. The element of filial
affection for the kindest of fathers is added to the love and ad-
miration for a brave and skillful commander which are felt not
only by his own countrymen, but by multitudes of dwellers on
other shores of the great sea that he sailed for half a century.

In the preparation of the work I have conferred with sev-
eral of the Admiral’s brother officers, who participated in the
dangers and triumphs of his battles, and have also freely con-
sulted the following publications: “ Reports of the Secretary of
the Navy for 1862-°65;” “ History of the Administration of
the Department of the Gulf in the Year 1862,” by James Par-
ton (New York, 1864); “ The Rebellion Record,” by Frank
Moore (New York, 1861-71); “ Life and Services of Vice-
Admiral Farragut,” by P. C. Headley (New York, 1865) ; “ The
American Conflict,” by Horace Greeley (Hartford, 1865-'67);
“The Lost Cause,” by Edward A. Pollard (New York, 1866);
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¢ Farragut and our Naval Commanders,” by J. T. Headley (New
York, 1867); “ History of the Navy during the Rebellion,” by
Charles B. Boynton, D. D. (New York, 1868); “ The Cruise of
the Franklin” by James E. Montgomery (New York, 1869);
% Camp, Court, and Siege,” by Wickham Hoffman (New York,
1877); ¢ Narrative of a Blockade Runner,” by John Wilkinson,
C.S.N. (New York, 1877); “ Naval Scenes and Reminiscences
of the Civil War,” by Rear-Admiral H. Walke, U. S. N. (New
York, 1877); “ The Battle of Mobile Bay,” by Commodore
Foxhall A. Parker, U. S. N. (Boston, 1878); lecture on “ Naval
Operations during the Civil War in the United States,” by
Rear-Admiral R. V. Hamilton, C. B. (London, 1878) ; Secretary
Welles’s articles in the ¢ Galaxy” and “ Atlantic Monthly”;
and files of the great dailies published during the war. Com-
modore Parker’s monograph is especially valuable, as a close
and accurate study of a complicated battle.

My acknowledgments are due to Mr. Rossiter Johnson, for
his editorial skill in revising my manuscript and preparing it
for the press.

L. F.
New York, September 1, 1879.
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THE LIFE

OF

DAVID GLASGOW FARRAGUT.

CHAPTER L

HIS ANCEBTORS.

Ox the blank leaf of a Bible in the possession of the family
of Admiral Farragut appears the following record, written in a
bold and legible hand :

“My Son: Your father, George Farragut, was born in the
Island of Minorca, in the Mediterranean, in 1765, the 29th of
September, in Ciudadella, and came away from that Island the
2d day of Aprid, 1772—came to America in March, 1776.
Your mother, Elizabeth Shine, was born in North Carolina,
Dobbs Co., near Kinnston on the Neuse River, in 1765, on the
7th of June. Her father, John Shine— mother, Elenor
MeIven.”

This is corroborated by an entry in the books of the ecclesi-
astical court of Ciudadella, which, being translated, reads as
follows:

“No. 165. George Farragut, son of Anthony Farragut
ond Juana Mesquida, was baptized on the 30th of September,
1765. The godfather, Don Joseph de Vigo; godmother, the
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noble lady Dona Juana Martorsll. The name of the child,
George Anthony Magin. He was born on the 29th of the
aforesaid month and year.”

George Farragut was descended from the renowned Don
Pedro Ferragut, who served under James I., King of Aragon,
styled in history £7 Conguistador, in the campaigns which re-
sulted in the expulsion of the Moors from Majorca in 1229, and
from Valencia in 1238. In Majorca Don Pedro was Sergeant
before the King—an office of high honor and importance, held
only by those of noble blood. James bestowed estates upon
the knights who accompanied him in these enterprises, and di-
rected the troubadour Mossen Jaime Febrer to celebrate them
in verse. The following is the stanza devoted to Pedro Fer-
ragut :

Sobre camp bermell una ferradura

De finisim or, ab un clau daurat,

Pere Ferragut pinta, 6 en tal figura
Esplica lo agnom. La historia asegura
Ser aragones, de Jaca baixat.

Apres que en Mallorca servi de sargent,
Venint § Valencia, hon gran renom guanya
De expert capits per lo dilitgent;

Los anys, é sucesos lo feren prudent.

Té en lo pelear gran cordura 6 manya,
Pergue & totes armes ffcilment se apanya.

The late Henry Howard Brownell, on reading these lines,
extemporized the following translation, which is sufficiently
literal :

A charger’s shoe is borne on his shield,
Of purest gold, on a blood-red field,

Set thereon with a nail of the same:
Thus we know him, device and name.
From Jaca, in Aragon, he came.

At Mallorca and Valencia both,

Well he quitted his knightly troth,
Serving as Sergeant before his liege,
Through the conquest, in field and siege:
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Strong in battle, by plain or hold,
Great his fame as a warrior bold,

And a prudent captain to shun sarprise;
For years and victories made him wise.
At every manner of arms expert,

He did on the foe great spoil and hart.

Those who believe in the transmission of ancestral traits
will find a signal illustration of the theory in the character of
Admiral Farragut. The qualities attributed by the poet to Don
Pedro were those for which his illustrious descendant was pre-
eminently distingnished. According to the testimony of his con-
temporaries in the service, he was one of the best informed and
most painstaking officers in his profession, irreproachable in his
morals, earnest and energetic, admitting no such word as fail in
the vocabulary of duty.

The records of the General Council of the Kingdom of
Majorea show that the following members of the family of
Ferragut were councilors :

Bernardo Ferragut, of Puebla, in 1461 and 1491.

Valentin Ferragut, of Puebla, in 1492.

Julian Ferragut, of Sansellas, in 1500.

Bernardo Ferragut, in 1505 and 1509.

Jorge Ferragut, of Sansellas, in 1506.

Marcos Ferragut, of Sinen, 1512.

Bartolomé Ferragut, in 1518.

Bernardo Ferragut, in 1516,

Onofre Ferragut, in 1534.

Pedro Ferragut, in 1536, 1540, and 1549.

Gabriel Ferragut, in 1540.

Lorenzo Ferragut, in 1542.

Miguel Ferragut, of Sansellas, in 1563.

Three of the family were magistrates of the City of Palma
and Kingdom of Majorea :

Bernardo Ferragut, in 1516.

Juan Ferragut, in 1588.

Gabriel Ferragut, in 1585, 1590, and 1605.

The prebendary Agustin Ferragut, who died in 1576, was a
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noted theologian and benefactor of the House of Repentants
at Palma.

Pablo Ferragut was topographer and historian of Majorca.

Captain Antonio Ferragut, of Cénaves, fought heroically in
the wars of Philip I'V., in the seventeenth century, died unmar-
ried, and bequeathed all his property to a college.

Gonzalo Ferragut, a native of Pollenza, was a Dominican
priest, was celebrated for his learning, and became Bishop of
Urgel in 1827 and of Yoiza in 1831. He died in 1843.

The Ferragut family possessed a large estate and were liv-
ing in Ciudadella in 1558, when the Turks carried off 4,000
of the inhabitants as slaves. Among these was Antonio Fer-
ragut, with his wife and six children. In February, 1564, the
father and mother and one son, Constantino, having been ran-
somed for 34 gold ducats and 53 aspros (about $90), sailed from
Constantinople for Minorca. Miguel Ferragut, a priest, was
conspicuous for his exertions in procuring the exchange and re-
lease of the captives. One of them, Marco Antonio Bonet,
writing to a Dr. Marti, of Naples, said : “ True it is that Miguel
Ferragut, presbyter, solicits well that with which you have com-
missioned him—so well that, as I am informed, no one of our
country could do more in such an undertaking ; and, if they had
given him higher powers, many of us would have acquired our
liberty.” Miguel himself said in a letter: “I am tired of stay-
ing in this place (Constantinople), but if I leave it there will be
no one to interest himself for our unfortunate countrymen.”

Antonio Ferragut, grandfather of the Admiral, was born in
Sinen, Majorca, and was a son of Jorge and of Ursula Guitart.
He married Juana Mesquida, daughter of Juan and Juana
Bagur. The name Ferragut is now extinct in Minorca. It
seems to have been superseded by that of Mesquida.

George Farragut, father of the Admiral, was sent to school
at Barcelona, but was seized with the spirit of adventure, and
emigrated to America at an early age—but not with the 1,500
Greeks, Italians, and Minorcans who settled in Florida in 1768.
He arrived in 1776, promptly sided with the colonists, and
served gallantly in their struggle for independence, as also in



HIS ANCESTORS. 5 o

the war of 1812. It is said that he saved the life of Colonel
‘Washington in the battle of Cowpens. The name first appears
officially in the Journal of the House of Representatives of the
United States for 1797. Hon, William C. C. Claiborne, of
Tennessee, presented “ The petition of George Farragut, pray-
ing that he may be allowed the balance of pay due to him for
services rendered the United States as Muster Master of the
Militia of the District of Washington (East Tennessee), em-
ployed in actual service for the protection of the frontiers of
the United States south of the Ohio, from the 1st of March,
1792, to the 26th of October, 1793.”

Later, Mr. Claiborne became Governor of Mississippi Terri-
tory (1801) and of Louisiana (1803). It was probably during
this interval that George Farragut moved to Louisiana, where
he soon after entered the naval service.

Until 1811 there was substantially no government on the
Mississippi and Louisiana coast. The Spaniards claimed the
seaboard, as far as Pearl River, as part of their province of
West Florida. But the American settlers in the district re-
volted, assaulted and took the Spanish fort at Baton Rouge,
adopted a flag, and organized a government and a military force.

In taking possession of the disputed territory, by orders
from Washington, Governor Claiborne organized it into coun-
ties. The present seaboard of Mississippi constituted the coun-
ties of Biloxi and Pascagoula.

A dispatch to the Governor, which he forwarded to Wash-
ington, runs as follows :

“On the 2d of December, 1810, I arrived in the Bay of
Pascagoula. On going on shore next day, a number of men
gathered around and said Majors Hargraves and Duprée wished
to see me. I said I would call the following morning. Ac-
cordingly, on the 4th I found the house of the late John B.
Nicolet. On my arrival they ran up the flag of the Conven-
tion. Next day pressed John B. Boudro’s schooner and. two
others owned by Anthony Krebs and Augustine, a mulatto.
These they brought before Mr. Nicolet’s house, and loaded with



(] THE LIFE OF DAVID GLASGOW FARRAGUT.

negroes, dry goods, liquors, provisions, furniture, ete., the prop-
erty of deceased. Next day they proceeded up the Pascagoula
River. Peter Nicola was appointed commandant of Pascagoula,
with orders to compel the inhabitants to swear allegiance to the
new government. Returning westward, I found Nicola at Pass
Christian, ordering the inhabitants to Pascagoula to take the
oath. There were no Spanish authorities on the coast. They
had retired to Mobile.
“ GeoreE FarragUT.”

On January 25, 1811, Governor Claiborne dispatched a Dr.
Flood, in the felucca Alligator, Sailing Master George Farra-
gut, to those counties, to select a commission of the most intel-

.ligent men as magistrates, etc. In his report, Dr. Flood says
that, “at the special request of the inhabitants of Pascagoula,
by whom he is greatly beloved, I prevailed on Sailing Master
George Farragut to accept the commission of magistrate.”

. ‘Whether he severed his connection with the service at this
time, I have no record; but as Lieutenant (afterward Major-
General) Gaines was appointed to the same office, and retained
his commission in the service, it is to be presumed that it was
merely a temporary post of honor, no emoluments being at-
tached to the office.

He was a friend and companion of General Jackson, and
served with him in the Indian campaigns. He removed to
Pascagoula in 1809, and died at Point Plaquet, West Pasca-
goula, June 4, 1817, aged sixty-three. A son, George Antoine,
aged ten, was drowned in July, 1815, having fallen overboard
from a boat in which he was being towed behind a schooner.
This circumstance weighed heavily on the father’s mind to the
day of his death.

On his mother’s side, Admiral Farragnt came of the good
old Scotch family of McIven. In his journal, begun while he
was a midshipman, he speaks thus of his parents: “I know that
my father was an officer in the Revolutionary struggle for our
independence ; but whether on land or water, I can not say. In
fact, his occupations were as various as could be expected of a
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restless disposition and a mind filled with enterprise, courage,
and a desire for novelty. At one time we hear of him as an
officer of the Navy, and then in the somewhat novel character,
for a sailor, of a major of cavalry, in the State of Tennessee.
He accompanied two gentlemen, McKay and Ogden, on an ex-
pedition to survey and settle a part of that State, where they
lived for some time in a log hut. After the country became
more thickly inhabited, he took unto himself a wife, Miss
Elizabeth Shine, of North Carolina, and settled in Tennessee
as a farmer.”



CHAPTER IL

HIS BOYHOOD.

Davip Grasgow Farraaur, the first Admiral of the United
States Navy, was born at Campbell’s Station, near Knoxville,
East Tennessee, on the 5th of July, 1801. In his journal,
alluding to the family’s early residence in Tennessee, he says:

“In those days, on the border, we were continually annoyed
by the Indians, which rendered the organization of the militia
a public necessity. My father was appointed a major of caval-
ry, and served for some time in that capacity ; the condition of
the country requiring its inhabitants to be constantly on the
outlook. I remember that on one occasion, during my father’s
absence, a party of Indians came to our house, which was some-
what isolated, when my mother, who was a brave and energetic
woman, barred the door in the most effectual manner, and sent
all of us trembling little ones up into the loft of the barn, while
she guarded the entrance with an axe. The savages attempted
to parley with her, but she kept them at bay, until finally they
departed, for some reason which is unknown, their intentions
having been evidently hostile. My father arrived shortly after
with his command, and immediately pursued the Indians, whom,
I believe, he succeeded in overtaking and punishing; at any
rate, they were never seen again in that part of the country.”

In 18— Major Farragut received an appointment as sailing
master in the Navy, and was ordered to the command of a gun-
boat at New Orleans, to which place he shortly afterward moved
his family. It was not long after he fixed his residence in that
city before his faithful and beloved wife fell a victim to yellow
fever (1808). Her funeral, according to a letter of the late
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Commodore Daniel T. Patterson, U. 8. N., who was a pall-
bearer, occurred at the same time with that of Sailing Master
David Porter, father of the celebrated Commodore David
Porter, of Essex fame. Mrs. Farragut left three sons and two
daughters, the younger of the latter being an infant at the breast.

In 1809 Sailing Master Farragut was relieved from com-
mand of the schooner, and transferred to the naval station at
New Orleans. In the same year he purchased a farm of nine
hundred acres on Pascagoula River. In his journal Farragut says:

“J accompanied a young man whom my father sent to clear
the place. This expedition was my first experience on ealt
water, and I fervently hoped, at that time, it would be my last.
He took us in a small boat across Lake Pontchartrain, when it
was blowing almost a gale; but that fact never caused my
father any uneasiness, for he had great confidence in his
pirogue, considering it much safer than the gunboats. In fact,
we were hailed when passing them, and invited to ‘come on
board until the blow was over’; but he replied that he ¢could
ride it out better than they could” When any one suggested
to him the risk to which he subjected his children in thus cross-
ing the Lake, he generally replied that ‘now was the time to
conquer their fears.’

“The most daring enterprise which my father ever per-
formed by water was in going from New Orleans to Havana in
a pirogue, a species of canoe made of two pieces of wood instead
of one. The old gentleman frequently adverted to this voyage
in after life. 'When speaking of the good qualities of his little
yawl, a small boat in which he navigated the Lake, which some
of his friends thought a dangerous experiment, he would ex-
claim, ‘Danger indeed! If you had said there was danger in
going to Havana in a pirogue, there would have been some
sense in it; but this thing is as safe as any craft at the levee.
This fondness for the sea was very strong with him, but his
health was not sufficiently good, at that period of his life, to en-
dure the hardships of actual service, or to indulge in the plea-
sures of an extended cruise; so he contented himself with
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making frequent trips across the Lake, with his children, in the
yawl; a practice he kept up until the day of his death.

“When the weather was bad we usually slept on the beach
of one of the numerous islands in the Lake, or else on the shore
of the main land, wrapped in the boat sail, and, if the weather
was cold, we generally half buried ourselves in the dry sand.”

Reference has already been made to Sailing Master David
Porter. This gentleman was hospitably entertained, during his
last illness, by the parents of Admiral Farragut. To this cir
cumstance the latter attributed his appointment to the Navy.
The incident no doubt had an important bearing on his career;
but it is highly probable that, even if he had never met his
“kind friend and guardian,” as he calls Commodore Porter, to
whom he acknowledged through life his great obligations, and
with whom to the last he maintained the closest relations of
friendship, his early training, his fondness for sea life, and the
inclinations of his father, who had already procured the ap-
pointment of his eldest son William in the Navy, would still
have given David Glasgow to the same service. The following
is his own account of the matter:

%It so happened that the father of Commodore Porter was
serving on the New Orleans Naval Station with my father.
He was taken sick, and my father, hearing of it, had him
brought to our house, where, after a severe illness, during
which he was nursed by my mother, he died. This, as well as

- I can remember, occurred in 1809. I mention this kind act on
the part of my parents because it is to this circumstance that I
am indebted for my present rank in the Navy of the United
States. Not long after his father’s death, Commander David
Porter took command of the Naval Station at New Orleans,
and having heard that his father died at our house, and had re-
ceived some attention from my parents, he determined to visit
us and adopt such one of the children as desired to go with him.
He accordingly came to see us, and after a while the question
of adoption was put to us all, when I, being inspired by his
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uniform and that of my brother William, who had received an
appointment in the Navy some time before, said promptly that
I would go. This was after my mother’s death. I returned
with Commander Porter to New Orleans, where I met Mrs.
Porter for the first time. Thus commenced my acquaintance
with the celebrated Commodore David Porter, late of the
United States Navy, and I am happy to have it in my power to
say, with feelings of the warmest gratitude, that he ever was to
me all that he promised, my ¢friend and guardian.’

“] continued to reside with Commander Porter, occasionally
accompanying him on excursions and boat expeditions, and
gometimes going with my father across the Lake to his planta-
tion ; so that I soon became fond of this adventurous sort of life.

“ Porter was at length relieved, and returned to Washington
in the bomb-ketch Vesuvius, I accompanying him. It was then
that I took leave of my kind parent for ever. We touched at
Havana, where we learned that the brig Vixen, Captain Tripp,
had been fired into by a British vessel of war. I mention this
merely because I believe it was the first thing that caused bad
feeling in me toward the English nation. I was too young to
know anything about the Revolution; but I looked upon this
as an insult to be paid in kmd, and was anxious to discharge the
debt with interest.”

Commander Porter remained at the capital, with his family,
for several months, during which young Farragut was placed at
school. On the removal of the Porter family to their residence
at Chester, Pennsylvania, he accompanied them and was again
placed in school, where he remained until Commander Porter
was ordered to take charge of the frigate Essex. During his
stay at Washington the youth had been introduced to the Hon.
Paul Hamilton, then Secretary of the Navy, who, after ques-
tioning him in regard to the service, promised him a midship-
man’s warrant as soon as he became ten years of age. This
promise was generously redeemed, Farragut’s appointment in
the Navy bearing date December 17,1810, when he was a little
more than ni;xe years and five months old.



CHAPTER IIL

HI8 FIRST CRUIBE.

PortER, Who, though ordered to do the duty of a captain,
was not promoted to that rank till July 12, 1812, took command
of the Essex in August, 1811, and young Farragut accompanied
him, beginning at that tender age the arduous duties of the
naval service, in times and under circumstances well calculated
to test the endurance of the sturdiest man. The frigate was
then lying at Norfolk, Virginia, and the trip from Chester by
stage and packet is described in the journal as a long and tedi-
ous one, with only the upsetting of a stage to vary its monotony.
His first impressions of the service seem to have been favorable.
He says:

“ On reaching the Essex, I was exceedingly pleased with the
ship and her officers. John Downes was the First Lieutenant,
James P. Wilmer Second, James Wilson Third, William Finch
Fourth, John M. Gamble Marine Officer, Robert Miller Sur-
geon, Richard K. Hoffman and Alex. M. Montgomery Assistant
Surgeons, David P. Adams Chaplain, John R. Shaw Purser.
The ship was soon refitted and ready for sea, when we received
orders to join the coast squadron under Commodore Rodgers,
consisting of the frigates President, States, Congress, and Essex,
with the brig Argus. Nothing occurred of note until we went
into port to winter. 'We cruised on the coast, and exercised the
crews until they. were brought to as great a state of perfection
and discipline as ever existed, probably, in the Navy. Our ship,
the Essex, was the ¢ smartest’ in the squadron, and Commodore
Rodgers complimented our captain highly. 8o efficient had our
crew become that they were divided into three watches, and that
arrangement remained in force until the day of the ship’s capture.
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“We went to Newport, Rhode Island, on Christmas eve,
1811, and anchored off the Bluffs, not being able to bring up in
the harbor. About four o’clock in the morning it commenced to
blow very hard from the northeast, with sleet and snow, and we
let go another anchor, and at half past six let go a third and a
fourth ; but she dragged the whole of them and went ashore
just oﬁ the Bluffs. She heeled over very much, and in a short
time the main and mizzen top-gallant masts were blown away,
everything being so clogged with ice as to render it impossible
to house the masts. It was understood that we lay on a bank,
and, if the ship should beat over, nothing could save us from
being dashed against the cliffs, which seemed a perfect mass of
ice. The only hope left of saving the lives of the crew was to
cut away the masts as soon as the ship was sufficiently near the
bank, and men were accordingly stationed at the galley with
axes, ready to execute the order—for no one could keep the
deck. The Captain and First Lieutenant were on the lookout
by turns, a few minutes only at a time, the cold being so intense
that one of the men, an Indian or mulatto, was found in his
hammock frozen. Fortunately, the gale abated at this critical
period, without doing us any further injury; but there was
great destruction on the coast from its fearful effects. The Nau-
tilus came in soon afterward, with the loss of her guns, and
otherwise severely crippled.

“ During the remainder of the winter the midshipmen of the
squadron were sent to school to a Mr. Adams, and early in the
spring the squadron went to New York, where some of the
ships underwent repairs.”

On the 18th of June, 1812, the Congress of the United
States declared war against Great Britain. Our little Navy was
scarcely in a condition for combined action. A small squadron
had been brought together in New York, consisting of the Presi-
dent, 44, Commodore Rodgers; the Essex, 32, Captain Porter;
and the Hornet, 18, Captain Lawrence. The other vessels were
scattered, some of them undergoing repairs. Commodore Rod-
gers dropped down the bay with the President and Hornet, and
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was joined on the 21st of June by the United States, 44, Cap-
tain Decatur; Congress, 88, Captain Smith; and A.rgus, 16,
Lieutenant Commander Smclalr The Essex remained a few
days in port, overhauling her rigging and restowing her hold.
She then got to sea and made several prizes, destroying most of
them and receiving the prisoners on board.

It is not the purpose of the present work to follow in detail
the events of the war which shed so much glory upon our in-
fant Navy, further than the subject of this memoir is connected
therewith. It was his fortune to belong to a frigate which took
an active and singularly adventurous part in the contest. The .
eventful cruise of the Essex and her final capture by a snpenor
British force, after one of the hardest fought and most sangui-
nary battles that ever occurred on the ocean, form a remarkable
episode in naval warfare.

Farragut was but ten years and one month old when he
joined his ship, and he bore a gallant part in all her adventures.
In his journal, which was begun but a few years later, he gives
the following graphic account of the cruise:

The war with Great Britain was declared just after we be-
gan overhauling. The declaration was read to the crew on
three successive days, and the Captain put the question to them,
whether any one wished his discharge on the plea of being a
British subject. No one answered until the third day, when, in
the act of taking the oath of allegiance to the United States,
one man refused, saying that he was an Englishman. He was
sail-maker’s mate, and had been promised the position of sail-
maker. Unfortunately for him, there was a sailar on board who
offered to make oath that the fellow was an American, and that
he had known him from his youth; that, in fact, they were
from the same town, Barnstable, I think. The crew were en-
raged to such a degree that violence would have been done if
the Captain had not interfered. He determined, however, to
gratify them to a certain extent, and allowed the man to be
tarred and feathered and put on shore at New York as a coward.
This was considered a great outrage on the laws, and Captain
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Porter had some difficulty in getting clear of the civil authori-
ties. The man, however, who really was an American, and only
wanted a frolic on shore, which he might have had by asking,
as great liberty was allowed to the men, afterward served all
through the war on the Lakes, where he died about its termina-
tion.

“The crew worked with great spirit and assiduity, and the
ship was ready for sea in about three weeks, when we sailed on
a cruise off the coast, during which we captured the Alert and
several other prizes. We saw the British ship Antelope, 50
guns, on the banks of Newfoundland, and ran near enough to
see her upper deck ports. We then hove to, but she passed
without noticing us. We also ran into a convoy of transports
in the night, passed under the stern of the Minerva frigate, and
captured a brig with a hundred and fifty troops and some gen-
eral officers on board. At daylight we showed our colors, and
perceived that there were several vessels of war with the con-
voy, and that all of the transports were armed and had some
hundreds of troops on.board.

“The captured British officers were very anxious for us to
have a fight with the Minerva, as they considered her a good
match for the Essex, and Captain Porter replied that he would
gratify them with pleasure if his Majesty’s commander was of
their taste. So we stood toward the convoy, and when within
gunshot hove to and waited for the Minerva ; but she tacked, and
stood in among the convoy, to the utter amazement of our
prisoners, who denounced the commander as a base coward and
expressed their determination to report him to the Admiralty.
Our crew became so wrought up that they sent a deputation aft
to the Captain, requesting him to attack the whole convoy. He
replied that it would be madness to do so. He then paroled
the officers and troops, took their arms from them, and let them

go- )

“We afterward fell in with the Alert sloop of war, 20 guns,
at which time the Essex was sailing under reefed topsails, the
Alert being to windward. As soon as we discovered her in the
morning, we put out drags astern, and led the enemy to believe
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we were desirous of making our escape, by sending men aloft,
shaking out the reefs, mast-heading the yards, and making sail.
The Alert was deceived in our character, as was the intention,
and bore down upon us. We went to quarters and cleared for
action, with the exception of taking out the tompions—our ports
remaining closed.

‘ Suddenly the Alert fired a gun, and we hove to, when she
passed under our stern. 'When she was on the lee quarter, we
changed the English flag for the American, upon which the
enemy gave three cheers and poured in a broadside of grape and
canister. Fortunately, she was too far abaft the beam for the
shot to enter our ports, so that they struck harmlessly in the
bulwarks. 'We then put up our helm, and gave her a broadside
as soon as the guns would bear, tompions and all! She, of
course, had now discovered her mistake, and attempted to run,
but too late, for she was in the lion’s reach. In eight minutes
we were alongside, when she fired a musket and struck her
colors, They hailed, and said the ship was leaking very badly.
After we had stopped the leak as well as we could, the officers
were transferred to our vessel, and we took the Alert in tow and
kept her with us for several days. Finding, however, that our
ship was too crowded for safety and comfort, the Captain de-
termined to make a cartel of his prize, and so, disarming her
and paroling the officers and crew, he sent them in the Alert to
St. John’s, N. F., in charge of Mr. Knight.

I will here mention an incident which shows the advantage
of exercising the men to a certain custom which I have heard
severely commented on by officers of the Navy. It was the
habit of Captain Porter to sound the alarm of fire at all hours
of the night; sometimes he would have a smoke created in the
main hold. This was for the purpose of testing the nerves of
the crew, and preparing them for an emergency. Whenever
this alarm was given, every man repaired promptly to his quar-
ters with his cutlass and blanket, to await the orders of the com-
mander. At the commencement of this system a little confu-
sion would sometimes occur, but delinquents were promptly
punished, and in a short time the cry of ‘Fire!’ did not affect
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the steadiness of the men; on the contrary, the greatest alacrity
was manifested throughout the ship on hearing the alarm, and
the application of the system on the occasion I am about to re-
late was singularly effective.

“While the ship was crowded with prisoners they planned a
mutiny. The coxswain of the captain’s gig of the Alert, who
was a leader in the affair, came to my hammock with a pistol
in his hand, and stood by it, gazing intently upon me. Seeing
a man thus armed, and recognizing him as a prisoner, I knew
there must be something wrong, and, probably from fear more
than anything else, I remained perfectly motionless until he
passed. Then, slipping from my hammock, I crept noiselessly
to the cabin and informed Captain Porter of what I had seen.
He sprang from his cot, was on the berth deck in an instant,
and immediately cried ‘Fire! Fire!’ The effect was wonder-
ful. Instead of attempting to strike the fatal blow, the prison-
ers, or mutineers, became alarmed and confused, nor did they
recover from their stupor until they heard the boarders called
to the main hatch by the Captain, whom they now saw for the
first time in their midst, to secure them.

‘% Shortly after this we returned to the United States. When
off New York we fell in with a British squadron. At first we
discovered some vessels to leeward, and soon there appeared to
be an engagement going on. The Captain, who had been aloft
observing them for some time, now came down and told the
officer of the deck to haul by the wind and make all sail, as he
was convinced it was an English squadron making a sham fight
to decoy us down into their clutches, and that they would soon
show themselves. This proved true, for immediately on our
making sail they did the same in chase. They turned out to be
two frigates and a brig, which, as we afterward learned, were
the Acosta, Shannon, and Ringdove. The Acosta outsailed the
others, and appeared to gain on us, so that after dark (the weather
was very thick, and I believe it rained hard all night) the Cap-
tain called all hands on deck and told them he thought the oc-
casion favorable to tack ship and board the Acosta, and, if we
were successful, the lights could be extingmished and the other
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vessels of the enemy would probably run by us in the dark.

‘We were accordingly provided with suitable badges and a pass-

word. Our ship then tacked and stood in the direction where

we had last seen the enemy’s vessel. As Providence would have

it, we missed her. The consequences of a collision would have

been serious indeed. The Acosta was, no doubt, going eight or_
ten knots an hour, and we three or four; the first shock would

probably have taken the masts out of both vessels, and numerous

lives would have been lost in the attempt to board.

“In ten days we made land off the Capes of Delaware, and
discovered a schooner in chase of us. 'We paid no attention to
her, however, but hove to for a pilot. The stranger came up
with us and passed, although we tried to bring her to. She
made sail, and ran in over the shoals. The pilot informed us
that she was the privateer schooner General Armstrong, and so
we troubled ourselves no further about her.

“We went up to New Castle, and thence to Chester, and,
after overhauling the ship, put to sea again.

While in the Delaware, Captain Porter received a challenge
from Sir James Yeo, off the Capes, couched in heroic langnage.
'We put to sea immediately, but could not find Sir James.”




CHAPTER IV.

GRUISE IN THE PACIFIC.

‘WarLe the Essex was lying in the Delaware, Captain Porter
received orders to join the squadron under Commodore Bain-
bridge, which sailed from Boston on the 26th of October, 1812,
and consisted of the Constitution, 44, and the Hornet, 18. Por-
ters orders were, to rendezvous first at Porto Praya in the
island of St. Jago, and secondly at Fernando Noronha. Other
places of rendezvous were also designated, and he was further
instructed to cruise in the track of the British Indiamen until a
certain time mentioned, when, failing to fall in with his superior
officer, he was at liberty to act according to his own discretion.
The Essex sailed from the Delaware on the 28th of October,
and after proceeding to the different rendezvous, and being dis-
appointed in all his efforts to fall in with the Commodore, Cap-
tain Porter determined to act for himself, the result of which
was the memorable cruise of the Essex in the Pacific Ocean ;
which, though ending in the capture of the frigate by an over-
powering force, was nevertheless highly beneficial to our com-
merce in that far off and then comparatively unknown sea.
Without attempting a detailed account of a cruise so well known
to all readers of naval history, the author purposes merely to
follow the journal of young Farragut, believing that his im-
pressions and views, at that early period of his career, in regard
to the scenes in which he bore a part, can not fail to be of
interest. After referring to his departure from the Capes of
Delaware, the journal continues:

“We visited Fernando de Noronha, and thence sailed to
St. Catherine in the Eastern Brazils, where we wooded and
watered. While there, we heard that the British man-of-war
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Montague, 74, was in the offing. We put to sea that night, but
never saw her. We then went round Cape Horn.

“On our cruise so far we had taken several prizes, but no-
thing worthy of note, except the capture of the Nocton, a Brit-
ish government packet, with about $55,000 in specie on board.
The command of this prize was given to Lieutenant Finch
(afterward Captain Bolton), with orders to proceed home. She
was captured on her way, between Bermuda and the Capes of
Virginia, by a British frigate..

) “In going round the Horn, we experienced dreadful weather.

We lay off the Cape for twenty-one days. On the morning of
the 3d of March, 1813, we shipped a sea that stove in the ports
from the bow to the quarter, carried the weather quarter boat on
to the wheel, and took the lee boat off the davits; but by great
exertion we saved her. Large quantities of water rushed down
the hatchways, leading those below to imagine that the ship was
sinking. This was the only instance in which I ever saw a
regular good seaman paralyzed by fear at the dangers of the sea.
Many of ‘the marines and several of the sailors were seen on
their knees at prayer; but in this, as in all other emergencies,
most of our hardy tars were found ready and willing to do their
duty. They were all called on deck, and came promptly, led by
a trusty old son of Neptune, William Kingsbury, the boatswain’s
mate. He was the same who performed the part of Neptune in
¢ crossing the line” Long shall I remember the cheering sound
of his stentorian voice, which resembled the roaring of a lion
rather than that of a human being, when he told them ¢‘D—n
their eyes, to put their best foot forward, as there was one side
of her left yet.” By the exertions of this little band under the
Captain, First Lieutenant, and officers of the watch, the ship
was got before the wind, the quarter boat which had been car-
ried away secured, and the decks cleared up..

“On the following day the men who had been most active
were all promoted, except Kingsbury, for whom there was no
vacancy; but he was subsequently made boatswain of the
Essex Junior. :

“ After great suffering we at last, on the 4th of March, took
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the wind from the southwest, which ran us nearly up to the
Island of Mocha, near the coast of Chili. At this place we pro-
cured wild hogs and horses, the meat of the latter being in-
finitely preferred to that of the former, which was fishy and
unpalatable.

“ A melancholy incident occurred here. While we were
lying in ambush for a drove of horses, one of the crew, a quar-
ter-gunner, named James Spafford, had strayed off into the
woods, and, as the drove passed, the men raised their guns and
fired. Spafford had been aware of what was going on, and as
soon as the firing ceased he came out. Lieutenant McKnight,
who was near-sighted, seeing a wounded horse making off, fired
at him, the ball passing through his neck and unfortunately into
the breast of Spafford. McKnight exclaimed,

¢¢I have killed him!’ alluding to the horse.

“¢Yes, replied Spafford, ‘and you have killed me too.
Please have me put into the boat and carried on board, that I
may die under my country’s flag.’

“ All were struck with consternation. McKnight was nearly
crazed, and embraced Spafford, imploring his forgiveness. The
poor fellow was carried on board, and lived about two weeks.

“ After getting a supply of fresh provisions, and letting the
crew have a good run on shore, we sailed for Valparaiso. On
arriving off that port we looked in, but seeing no English ves-
sels, the Captain, either for the purpose of trying the crew, or
from a conviction that it was best to proceed to leeward in search
of British whalers, called the men aft and made them a short
speech in his usual animated and enthusiastic style, showing the
advantage of abstaining from the pleasures of being in port, that
they might enjoy them the more in the future. The effect was
always the same, a burst of applause and a determination to
abide by his will.

“ At the time we were passing Valparaiso our provisions had
been almost expended, and the men were on short allowance;
but it would have mattered little if we had been as short again.
Their devotion to Porter was unbounded, and he could have
controlled them with ease. On this occasion their enthusiastic



22 THE LIFE OF DAVID GLASGOW FARRAGUT.

acceptance of his proposition seemed to check his ambition in a
moment ; he pondered for a while, and then said, ¢ No! they
have suffered too much already; it would be tasking them un-
generously ; I shall go in, if only to give them a run on shore.”
And so we entered the harbor and anchored.

“On the 14th of March our crew had liberty; then, after
taking in a good supply of jerked beef, we put to sea. Cruising
along the coast of Chili and Peru, we fell in with a Peruvian
guarda costa, the Nereyda, 15 guns, which had captured some
American vessels. We brought her under our lee, and took
possession. Her captain acknowledged the capture of two of
our whalers (he had their crews on board), and said he expected
orders daily to capture American vessels wherever found, as his
government was an ally of Great Britain. He was disarmed,
his guns, small arms, and ammunition thrown overboard, and
his vessel allowed to leave with only his lower masts and top-
masts standing.

“ Running down the coast, we recaptured one of the guarda
costa’s prizes, just as she was entering the port of Callao—the
ship Alexander Barclay, belonging to New Bedford. We then
sailed for the Galépagos Islands.

“On the 29th of April, at daylight, we discovered a sail,
which proved to be a large ship. In an hour we descried two
others; made all sail; came up with and captured the first,
which proved to be the Montezuma, Captain Baxter, with 1,400
barrels of sperm oil. We continued in pursuit of the others
until 11 A. a., when it fell calm, with the chase seven to nine
miles distant. We learned from our prisoners that the strangers
were the British whaleships Georgiana and Policy—both well
armed and manned, one having twenty-six and the other thirty-
five men. We got out all our boats, and sent them in two
divisions under Lieutenant Downes. I was officer of his boat.
All the officers of the frigate, except the Captain, Surgeon, Pur-
ser, and Boatswain, were in the expedition.

“At 2 p. M., when we were about two miles distant, the
enemy hoisted English colors and commenced firing their guns.
We pulled up in two divisions, and when within a few yards
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Downes hailed, and asked if they surrendered, at the same time
displaying the Ammerican colors from a pike in the bow of his
boat. They gave three cheers, and replied, “ We are all Ameri-
cans.,” After taking possession, we passed on to the next ves-
sel. The mate was in command, and hesitated for some time,
but, seeing one of our men in the bow of the boat cock his
musket, he yielded also. We had taken him rather by surprise,
as he had to get his guns out of the hold and mount them, and
he remarked that, if he had been ready for us, some would have
returned with bloody noses.

“The greater part of the crews of both ships were Ameri-
cans who had been pressed into the English service, and many
of them entered for our ship.

“In clearing their decks for action, they had thrown over-
board several hundred Galdpagos terrapins. The appearance of
these turtles in the water was very singular ; they floated as light
as corks, stretching their long necks as high as possible, for fear
of drowning. They were the first we had ever seen, and ex-
cited much curiosity as we pushed them aside to make way for
the boats. On our return many were picked up, which afforded
us an abundant supply of fresh provisions for officers and crew.
The meat, cooked in almost any manner, is delicious.

“The Captain ordered the Georgiana to be equipped as a_
cruiser, placing Lieutenant Downes in command, and on the
8th of May she hoisted the American colors and pennant, firing
a salute of seventeen guns, which was returned from our ship
with nine guns and three cheers. We then separated, our ship
going to Charles Island (of the Galépagos group) to examine
the post-office—a letter-box nailed to a tree, in which whalers
and other vessels deposited records of their movements. Found
nothing new but some fresh tracks of men. While there we
amused ourselves fishing.

“On one occasion, when out in the gig, the Captain, perceiv-
ing a small beach on the Devil’s Rock, as it was called, or-
dered the boat to be run in. As we approached the shore, a
number of seals were seen making for the water. He urged
the men to try and kill one ; so they singled out a fine fellow
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and beat him over the head with oars and boat-hooks; but it
was of no avail, as he continued waddling toward the water.
Finally, one of the sailors succeeded in getting hold of his tail ;
but he dragged the whole crew, who had come to their com-
rade’s assistance, into the water. The Captain fired at the seal
when he freed himself from the men, but he sank out of sight.
‘When we returned to the ship, the whalers instructed us in the
art of seal-catching; so we afterward provided ourselves with
clubs about three feet in length, sealing-knives, paddles, ete. It
was not long before we became adepts in the business. The
second attempt, however, was ludicrous. On our landing a
fine sealion arose, shook his head, and manifested an intention
to take to the water.

“<¢Now, boys,” cried the Captain, ¢ you have a chance to
show your American skill. String yourselves along, and each
man stand ready to give him a blow on the nose. One blow
will fix him.

“But, alas! that one blow was never given. I was of Fal-
stafP’s opinion that ¢the better part of valor is discretion,” and
so ran and seated myself in a boat, not liking the gentleman’s
appearance. A good deal to my surprise, the animal, with a
mighty roar, dashed through to the water, the men opening
their ranks right and left as he passed. I had a hearty laugh
at the Captain, who accused me of being afraid to stand on the
beach, while I maintained that I never undertook anything
without going through with it. We soon learned the manner
of destroying the poor creatures with ease. .

“ At Charles Island we let some of the men go on shore
daily to take a run. They amused themselves by appointing
one as cook while the rest went in search of tortoises and water.
We found a spring about three miles from the beach. Birds
were in great abundance, particularly doves, and we made a
pot-pie of them, cooked the terrapin in his shell, and so made
a feast. The prickly pear of the Galfpagos grows very large,
and the fruit, which we ate for dessert, has an excellent flavor.
These were among the happiest days of my life.

“On the 25th of May we put to sea in search of prizes, and
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on the 28th discovered a sail and gave chase. In the afternoon
it died away calm, when we got out all the boats and had a
good pull before we overhauled her. The Essex overtook us,
and the Montezuma picked us up. It was about 8 p. M. when
we made the capture, which proved to be the Atlantic, Captain
‘Weir, an American, who had the pusillanimity to say that,
¢ though he was American born, he was an Englishman at heart.’
We had British colors flying at the time, and he thought it
would aid him to make this declaration. We put a few men on
board, and gave chase to another sail in the southwest. The
Atlantic sailed well, and in the night we came up with the
stranger, which proved to be the Greenwich. From these two
ships we secured water and tortoises enough to supply us for
some time. On the 6th of June we saw a beautiful sight, a
voleano in a state of eruption on the Island of Narboro, one of
the largest of the Galdpagos.”

The Essex remained in the neighborhood of the Galfpagos
Islands until the 8th of June. On the 14th she made the coast
of Peru, and on the 16th the island of La Plata. On the 19th
gshe ran in and anchored off the mouth of the river Tumbez in
the Bay of Guayaquil. Here Captain Porter commenced laying
in provisions. Farragut’s journal says :

¢ Our boats were frequently upset at this work ; but, although
there were plenty of sharks and alligators to be seen, we did not
lose a man. A alligator was killed, measuring sixteen feet in
length, and nearly as large around as a flour-barrel.

“On June 25th the Georgiana arrived with three prizes—the
Rose, Catherine, and Hector. The officers were taken from
them, and the armament shifted from the Georgiana to the At-
lantic, which was thenceforward called the Essex Junior.

“T was sent as prize-master to the Barclay. This was an im-
portant event in my life, and when it was decided that I was to
take the ship to Valparaiso, I felt no little pride at finding my-
self in command at twelve years of age. This vessel had been
recaptured from a Spanish guarda costz. The Oaptain and his
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mate were on board, and I was to contyol the men sent from our
frigate, while the Captain was to navigate the vessel. Captain
Porter, having failed to dispose of the prizes, as it was under-
stood he intended, gave orders for the Essex Junior and all the |
prizes to start for Valparaiso. This arrangement caused great
dissatisfaction on the part of the Captain of the Barclay, a vio-
lent-tempered old fellow; and, when the day arrived for our
separation from the squadron, he was furious, and very plainly
intimated to me that I would ¢find myself off New Zealand in
the morning”; to which I most decidedly demurred. We were
lying still, while the other ships were fast disappearing from
view ; the Commodore going north, and the Essex Junior, with
her convoy, steering to the south for Valparaiso.

“T considered that my day of trial had arrived (for I was a
little afraid of the old fellow, as every one else was). But the
time had come for me at least to play the man ; so I mustered
up courage and informed the Captain that I desired the main-
topeail filled away, in order that we might close up with the
Essex Junior. He replied that he would shoot any man who
dared to touch a rope without his orders, he “would go his own
course, and had no idea of trusting himself with a d—d nut-
shell,” and then he went below for his pistols. I called my
right-hand man of the crew, and told him my sitnation ; I also
informed him that I wanted the maintopsail filled. He an-
swered with a clear “ Aye, aye, sir!” in a manner which was
not to be misunderstood, and my confidence was perfectly re-
stored. From that moment I became master of the vessel, and
immediately gave all necessary orders for making sail, notifying
the Captain not to come on deck with his pistols unless he
wished to go overboard ; for I would really have had very little
trouble in having such an order obeyed.

“I made my report to Captain Downes, on rejoining him, and
the Captain also told his story, in which he endeavored to per-
suade Downes that he only tried to frighten me. I replied by
requesting Captain Downes to ask him how he succeeded ; and,
to show him that I did not fear him, I offered to go back and
proceed with him to Valparaiso. He was informed that I was
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in command, he being simply my adviser in navigating the ves-
gel in case of separation. So, this being settled and understood,
I returned to the Barclay, and everything went on amicably up
to our arrival at Valparaiso.

“ We rejoined the Essex at the Island of Albemarle, on the
30th of September, 1813, and were delighted to meet our com-
panions again, who had been by no means idle, having taken
three prizes—the New Zealand, Seringapatam, and Sir Andrew
Hammond. I went in one of the boats to the cove, where in
less than half an hour we filled her with the finest rock cod,
some of them as yellow as gold. We also caught a couple of
land guanas—a large lizard—said to be good eating.

“ We finally left the Galépagos Islands a second time, the Cap-
tain having taken all the English vessels he could hear of, except
the Nimrod and Conrad—the latter a letter of marque of twenty
guns, which he believed had left the coast. He therefore de-
termined to visit the Marquesas Islands, refit his ship, and allow
the men a few weeks’ indulgence on shore, after the toils and
privations of war cruising.

“ The passage across was one of uniform good weather, unac-
companied by any event worthy of note. We made Hood’s
Island, one of the Marquesas group. On our approach, a canoe
came out to meet us, with eight natives tattooed and ornamented
with feathers. They invited us on shore, and promised us fruit
and provisions in‘abundance. Finally we rounded a point and
ran into a beautiful harbor, to be called, thereafter, Massachu-
setts Bay. The ship was hauled into a good berth, close in
ghore, the water being perfectly clear, with a sandy bottom.

“During our stay at this island the ¢youngsters,’ I among
the number, were sent on board the vessel commanded by our
Chaplain, for the purpose of continuing our studies, away from
temptation. We were allowed, when not occupied with our
duties, to ramble about on shore in company with the native
boys. From them we learned to throw the spear and walk on
stilts ; but the most useful accomplishment we acquired was the
art of swimming. It really appears as natural for these islanders

to swim as to eat. I have often seen mothers take their little
3
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children, apparently not more than two years old, down to the
sea on their backs, walk deliberately into deep water, and leave
them to paddle for themselves. To my astonishment, the little
creatures could swim like young ducks.

“In such amusements the time passed pleasantly enough.
‘We were considered too young to join in the battles which our
people were carrying on with the Happars and Typees, and the
Captain did not allow us to accompany him on these expeditions
inland, at which, of course, we felt indignant.

“ A good understanding was finally brought about among all
the tribes. The trouble, as stated in Captain Porter’s journal,
arose from efforts to protect our friends from the aggressions of
neighboring tribes, who would have destroyed all the bread-
fruit and other provisions upon which we relied so materially.
Being convinced of our superior power, they soon began to
make overtures of peace. Each tribe sent deputations, and built
a village for the accommodation of our crew, with workshops,
the whole being completed in one day. Stakes were fastened
together with sinnet (plaited straw) made of cownut husk, and
then the whole was covered neatly with cocoanut leaves, in such
a substantial manner as to shed the rain perfectly.

“ There is a universal custom here of changing names with
visitors ; and our friends were in the habit of calling every day,
bringing with them always little presents, for which they re-
ceived in return some bauble, or a piece of iron hoop, which
they valued highly. This article was used in the construction
of tools.

“We refitted the ships and smoked out the rats, which had
become so numerous as to endanger our safety, for they were
actually cutting through the water-casks, and even into the skin
of the ship; we were also afraid for our outer planking.

“'While we were engaged in this occupation, a strange sail
was discovered in the offing, and the Essex Junior was directed
to get under way and make chase. I was permitted to accom-
pany Captain Downes as his aid on this occasion. We soon
came up with the vessel, which proved to be the American ship
Albatross, an East India trader. We returned to port together,
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and I went back to the Essex, where I found that during my
absence there had been an attempt at mutiny among the prison-
ers, in consequence of whi